UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SHANNON FREMGEN, MARY CHRISTOPHERSON-JUVE, DENISE DELEON, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

v.

AMAZON.COM, INC.,

Defendant.

No. 1:21-cv-351

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

I.	INTR	ODUCTION1		
II.	JURIS	SDICTION		
III.	VENU	JE		
IV.	PARTIES2			
	А.	Plaintiffs		
		1. Shannon Fremgen		
		2. Mary Christopherson-Juve		
		3. Denise DeLeon		
	B.	Defendant		
	C.	Amazon's Co-Conspirators		
		1. Hachette		
		2. HarperCollins		
		3. Macmillan25		
		4. Penguin		
		5. Simon & Schuster		
V.	STAT	EMENT OF FACT		
	А.	The Big Five's dominance in trade books		
	B.	Amazon's dominance over its rival booksellers		
	C.	EBooks' arrival disturbed the trade publishing industry		
	D.	As a trade publisher, Amazon benefits from the Big Five's inflated eBook prices		
	E.	As an Ebook retailer, Amazon employs anticompetitive restraints to immunize its platform from the negative effects of the Big Five's inflated eBook prices		

010888-12/1419902 V1



A L A R M Find authenticated court documents without watermarks at <u>docketalarm.com</u>.

Case 1:21-cv-00351 Document 1 Filed 01/14/21 Page 3 of 66

	F.	Amazon is the subject of a government investigation for possible antitrust violations, including whether it uses its relationship with its	47		
		third-party sellers to harm competition.	47		
VI.	INTER	STATE TRADE AND COMMERCE	49		
VII.	RELEV	ANT MARKET	49		
VIII.	CLASS	ACTION ALLEGATIONS	52		
IX.	ANTIT	RUST INJURY	55		
X.	CAUSE	ES OF ACTION	57		
VIOLATION OF THE SHERMAN ACT					
	FIRST	CAUSE OF ACTION VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 1	57		
	SECON	ND CAUSE OF ACTION VIOLATION OF THE SHERMAN ACT – MONOPOLIZATION (15 U.S.C. § 2)	50		
JURY	URY TRIAL DEMANDED				
PRAY	RAYER FOR RELIEF				

010888-12/1419902 V1



Case 1:21-cv-00351 Document 1 Filed 01/14/21 Page 4 of 66

Plaintiffs allege the following upon personal knowledge as to themselves and their own acts, and as to all other matters upon information and belief, based upon the investigation made by and through their attorneys.

I. INTRODUCTION

1. Defendant Amazon.com, Inc. ("Amazon") operates the Amazon.com retail platform, which is the largest retail eBooks seller in the United States. It sells over half of all books purchased at retail in the United States.¹ Almost 90% of all eBooks are sold through its online retail platform.²

Defendant's Co-conspirators Hachette Book Group ("Hachette"); HarperCollins
Publishers L.L.C. ("HarperCollins"); Macmillan Publishing Group, LLC

("Macmillan"); Penguin Random House LLC ("Penguin"); Simon & Schuster, Inc.; and Simon & Schuster Digital Sales, Inc. (collectively "Simon & Schuster") are the five largest publishers in the United States, otherwise known collectively as the "Big Five." The Big Five produce "trade books," a term of art referring to "general interest fiction and non-fiction books," as "distinguished from 'non-trade' books such as academic textbooks, reference materials, and

010888-12/1419902 V1



¹ House Judiciary Committee, Investigation of Competition in Digital Markets, Oct. 5, 2020 at 295,

https://judiciary.house.gov/uploadedfiles/investigation_of_competition_in_digital_markets_majo rity_staff_report_and_recommendations.pdf ("House Report").

² Matt Day and Jackie Gu, *The Enormous Numbers Behind Amazon's Market Reach*, Bloomberg (Mar. 27, 2019), https://www.bloomberg.com/graphics/2019-amazon-reach-acrossmarkets/ (estimating that Amazon controls 88.9% of the eBooks market).

Case 1:21-cv-00351 Document 1 Filed 01/14/21 Page 5 of 66

other texts."³ Collectively, the Big Five's books account for about 80% of the trade books sold in the United States.⁴

3. Plaintiffs are consumers and direct purchaser plaintiffs from several states who frequently shop for electronic books ("eBooks") published by the Big Five. The Big Five typically sell their eBooks to consumers through booksellers' online retail platforms, like Amazon, Barnes & Noble, Kobo, and Apple Books. Co-conspirator HarpersCollins also sells eBooks to consumers through its own website. When selling eBooks through an online retail platform, the Big Five typically rely on the agency model.⁵ Under that model, the sales transaction occurs directly between the publisher and the retail consumer, while the eBook retailer serves merely as the publisher's sales agent in the transaction and takes a commission on every book sold.⁶ Plaintiffs purchased one or more eBooks directly from the Big Five through a retail platform other than Amazon.com.

⁵ Constance Grady, *The 2010s were supposed to bring the ebook revolution*, Vox (Dec. 23, 2019), https://www.vox.com/culture/2019/12/23/20991659/ebook-amazon-kindle-ereader-department-of-justice-publishing-lawsuit-apple-ipad; *For the Big Five, Agency Now Holds Sway Across the Board*, Author's Guild (Sep. 9, 2015), https://www.authorsguild.org/industry-advocacy/for-the-big-five-agency-now-holds-sway-across-the-board/; *Amazon, HarperCollins reach multi-year publishing deal*, First Post (Apr. 14, 2015),

010888-12/1419902 V1



Find authenticated court documents without watermarks at docketalarm.com.

³ United States v. Apple Inc., 952 F. Supp. 2d 638, 648 n.4 (S.D.N.Y. 2013).

⁴ Constance Grady, *Milo Yiannopoulos's book deal with Simon & Schuster, explained*, Vox (Jan. 3, 2017), https://www.vox.com/culture/2017/1/3/14119080/milo-yiannopoulos-book-deal-simon-schuster-dangerous-boycott.

https://www.firstpost.com/tech/news-analysis/amazon-harpercollins-reach-multi-year-publishing-deal-report-3666709.html; Laura Owen, *Macmillan, too, returns to agency pricing with Amazon*, Gigaom (Dec. 18, 2014), https://gigaom.com/2014/12/18/macmillan-too-returns-to-agency-pricing-with-amazon/.

⁶ Grady; CASE AT.40153 EBook MFNs and related matters (Amazon), https://ec.europa.eu/competition/antitrust/cases/dec_docs/40153/40153_4392_3.pdf ("5.4.2017 EU Commission Decision") at 8.

DOCKET A L A R M



Explore Litigation Insights

Docket Alarm provides insights to develop a more informed litigation strategy and the peace of mind of knowing you're on top of things.

Real-Time Litigation Alerts



Keep your litigation team up-to-date with **real-time alerts** and advanced team management tools built for the enterprise, all while greatly reducing PACER spend.

Our comprehensive service means we can handle Federal, State, and Administrative courts across the country.

Advanced Docket Research



With over 230 million records, Docket Alarm's cloud-native docket research platform finds what other services can't. Coverage includes Federal, State, plus PTAB, TTAB, ITC and NLRB decisions, all in one place.

Identify arguments that have been successful in the past with full text, pinpoint searching. Link to case law cited within any court document via Fastcase.

Analytics At Your Fingertips



Learn what happened the last time a particular judge, opposing counsel or company faced cases similar to yours.

Advanced out-of-the-box PTAB and TTAB analytics are always at your fingertips.

API

Docket Alarm offers a powerful API (application programming interface) to developers that want to integrate case filings into their apps.

LAW FIRMS

Build custom dashboards for your attorneys and clients with live data direct from the court.

Automate many repetitive legal tasks like conflict checks, document management, and marketing.

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Litigation and bankruptcy checks for companies and debtors.

E-DISCOVERY AND LEGAL VENDORS

Sync your system to PACER to automate legal marketing.